No. 45407-6-II

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2011 JUN -7 10 5:47
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY _____

COURT OF APPEALS,
DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RONALD CLIPSE,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

vs.

COMMERCIAL DRIVER SERVICES, INC., a Washington Corporation,
and LEE BRUNK and Jane Doe BRUNK, and the marital community
comprised thereof,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

APPELLANT RONALD CLIPSE'S BRIEF

Dan'I. W. Bridges, WSBA # 24179
Attorney for Appellant Clipse
McGaughey Bridges Dunlap, PLLC
3131 Western Avenue, Suite 410
Seattle, WA 98121
(425) 462 - 4000

ORIGINAL

A. Assignments Of Error

1. Whether the Trial Court erred by granting respondents' motion for directed verdict, dismissing appellant's claim for double damages under RCW 49.52.050 and 49.52.070.
2. Whether the Trial Court erred by granting respondents' motion to strike appellant's motion for fees and costs under RCW 49.60.
3. Whether the Trial Court erred by denying appellant's motion for reconsideration, granting respondents' motion to strike appellant's motion for fees and costs under RCW 49.60.
4. Implicit in assignments of error 2 and 3 is whether the Trial court erred in (a) denying Appellant's motion for fees and costs under RCW 49.60 and (b) denying Appellant's motion to extend time to file his cost and fee motion.

B. Issues Related To Assignments Of Error

1. Whether an employer's statutory obligation to pay back wages under the law against discrimination (RCW 49.60) constitutes a statutory obligation to pay wages within the meaning of RCW 49.52.050.
2. Whether the Order of Judgment "Reserving" for a later date the determination of fees and costs under RCW 49.60 enlarged the time to file appellant's fee motion under CR 54(d)(2).
3. Whether, assuming the Order of Judgment "Reserving" for a later date the determination of fees and costs under RCW 49.60 did not enlarge the time to file a motion under CR 54(d)(2), the Trial Court erred by refusing to enlarge the time to file that motion under CR 6(b) when the enlargement was at most only two days, would make no difference in the hearing date, no prejudice to either the Respondents or the judicial process was present, and

appellant articulated a reasonable and good faith reason for the extension.

C. Overview

Respondents operated a commercial driving school. Appellant Mr. Clipse had over 30 years of commercial driving experience. He was recruited, hired as an instructor, and given a start date by Respondents. (8/21, 71-74).¹ After he quit his previous job as induced by Respondents and reported to them for his first day of work, they fired him. (8/21, 75, 84-85) The Jury determined the reason for the termination was disability discrimination.

This case presents an issue of first impression applying RCW 49.52.050, to RCW 49.60. RCW 49.50.050 makes it illegal, providing the remedy of double damages, attorney's fees, and costs for an employer's willful failure to pay a wage protected by statute. RCW 49.52.050 applies equally to back wages; wages not yet earned but would have been but for the employer's violation of statute protecting the employee's right to earn them. RCW 49.60 is a statute protecting against failing to pay a wage for reasons proscribed by the WLAD.

The Trial Court dismissed on directed verdict Mr. Clipse's 49.52.050 claim because he had not earned the back wages subject to the

¹ Because the Court Reporter provided the transcript starting each day with a new page number, herein Mr. Clipse will use the citation convention of identifying the date of the transcript, followed by the page number.

claim. The Supreme Court has held back wages are subject to the statute.

Mr. Clipse moved for his fees and costs for proving the RCW 49.60 violation. The Court granted Respondents' motion to strike Mr. Clipse's motion as untimely. It was not untimely; the Order of Judgment "Reserved" the motion, as provided by CR 54(d), for a later date. But even if late, the Trial Court erred denying Mr. Clipse's motion to extend time. Respondents' asserted the motion had to be filed on Tuesday; it was filed on Thursday, to be heard the same day as if filed on Tuesday.

D. Facts

1. FACTS RELATING TO THE TRIAL COURT GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT ON RCW 49.52.050

Mr. Ronald Clipse sued Respondents Lee Brunk and Commercial Driver Services for discriminating against him based on a disability. (CP 1-7) Specifically, that Mr. Clipse either (1) had no disability but respondents perceived he did and would not let him work because of it or (2) he had a disability and respondents failed to accommodate it. (CP 3, para. 2.5)

It was not disputed Mr. Clipse was a Commercial Driver's License holder (CDL) and actively employed as a commercial driver when Respondents recruited and hired him (8/20, 5-8) as an instructor at their commercial drivers school. (8/21, 66-67)

According to Mr. Clipse, when he interviewed with Respondent Mr. Brunk (the school's owner) he was hired on the spot. (8/21, 71-74) Mr. Clipse had over 30 years experience as a commercial driver (8/21, 58). Brunk admitted Mr. Clipse was well-qualified. (8/20, 8-9) Because Mr. Clipse already had a Driver's Certificate² with nearly a full year on it (Mr. Brunk admitted seeing both the CDL and Mr. Clipse's valid DOT Medical Driver's Certificate during the interview, 8/21, 71-72, 8/20, 9). Mr. Clipse was not required by DOT regulations to take a new physical examination³ (8/21, 74-75) and Brunk did not ask for one. Id.

Thus, Mr. Clipse was hired without restriction; Brunk admitted he asked Mr. Clipse to give notice to his employer and gave Mr. Clipse a start

² DOT regulations call a driver's medical clearance card to drive a "Driver's Certificate."

³ It is a misconception of Respondents that DOT regulations require a DOT physical upon every new hire. That is incorrect. What is required is a person has a current DOT certification. See 49 CFR 391.45(b) only requiring a DOT exam every "24 months," not on new hire. The only pre-hire DOT testing requirement is a "controlled substance" drug screen. See 49 CFR 382.301(a) However, even that is not required provided the driver was already a "participant" in a "controlled substances testing program" meeting DOT standards and was either actually tested in the preceding 6 months or subject to a "random controlled substance program for the preceding 12 months" and no positive results were obtained. See 49 CFR 382.301(b). As an active CDL driver for an interstate trucking company when hired, Mr. Clipse had a current DOT certification under 49 CFR 391.45 and was in a random drug testing pool under 49 CFR 382.301(b). Brunk conceded at trial he was aware¹ of both and that he knew all of these applicable DOT regulations. 8/21, 34-45, 71-72; 8/20, 9. Thus, his hiring Mr. Clipse as Mr. Clipse testified⁴, after the interview and unconditionally, conforms completely with DOT requirements and the evidence at trial.

date at CDS of April 18. (8/21, 71-74) (8/20, 10-11)

A little more than a week later, Brunk phoned Mr. Clipse asking him to take a DOT physical. (8/21, 75-76) Mr. Clipse testified that struck him as odd because one was not required by the DOT and was not already requested, but not wanting to say “no” to his new employer he agreed to do so. Id.

During the exam, Mr. Clipse dutifully identified a prescription for Methadone by his primary care physician for chronic pain related to a torn rotator cuff. (8/21, 79) The respondents’ medical doctor (McKendry) asked Mr. Clipse to obtain documentation from his primary care doctor regarding the prescription and in the meantime gave Mr. Clipse a new DOT Driver’s Certification for 1 month, pending Mr. Clipse’s return with a letter from his doctor regarding that prescription and a letter from his cardiologist regarding his history of one heart attack.⁴ (8/21, 80-82)

⁴ Notably, and suggested to be error, Mr. Brunk never testified Mr. Clipse’s heart issue nor any other medical issue had anything to do with firing Mr. Clipse. Despite that, over Mr. Clipse’s objection, the Trial Court allowed defense counsel to spend hours digressing into the entirety of Mr. Clipse’s medical history ranging from a prescription for cough syrup, to his allergies, to ERD. Such evidence could possibly be relevant as “after acquired evidence” provided Respondents testified they learned of those issues later and it would have resulted in Mr. Clipse’s termination. They never did. Albeit if they did, that simply would have been more evidence of discrimination¹ as none of them were DOT disqualifiers. Despite that, defense counsel was permitted to spend essentially half her case arguing issues of Mr. Clipse’s medical history that had nothing to do with the Respondents’ employment decisions. Given his scope of assignment of

Because Mr. Clipse's cardiologist was not available until the day Mr. Clipse was to first report to work, (8/21, 82) he called Mr. Brunk to advise he could not come to work that first day. Id. Mr. Brunk said that was fine and told Mr. Clipse to report for work April 19. (8/21, 83)

However, according to Mr. Brunk the previous week he received a report from Dr. McKendry (Trial Ex. #6), received on April 14, identifying Mr. Clipse's prescription for Methadone and decided when he read the report he would not employ Mr. Clipse. (8/20, 22-25). Respondents offered at least four different reasons for that decision and a new one at trial. To not distract from this time line, their perpetually changing story will be set forth separately below.

DOT Regulations provide a general rule that a driver may not drive while on any narcotic (See 49 CFR 391.41 (b)(12)). However, that rule provides an "exception" that it is permissible if prescribed by a doctor familiar with the patient's duties and concludes it will not interfere with the ability to safely operate a commercial vehicle. Id. Mr. Clipse's doctor (Pang) testified consistent with that requirement. (Pang transcript, 7:10-9:1 and 10:10-12:5).

Mr. Clipse obtained the doctors' letters requested by Respondents'

error, there is no need for Mr. Clipse to assign as error those erroneous evidence decisions but this may be raised in response to Respondents' assignments of error.

physician, identified in her report she faxed to Respondents. (8/21, 83) CDS was on the way to McKendry's office from Mr. Clipse's cardiologist so he stopped by CDS to show Brunk the doctors' letters and confirm he would be at work the next day after reporting back to McKendry for his one-year Driver's Medical Certification. Id. and 84.

When Mr. Clipse arrived, Brunk told him he would not be allowed to work. (8/21, 84) What was said is not disputed. Mr. Clipse pleaded for his job, telling Mr. Brunk he had given notice and quit his job as he and Brunk discussed at the time Brunk hired him, giving him a start date. Mr. Brunk would not let Mr. Clipse work. (8/21, 84-85) (8/20, 28-29). Mr. Clipse testified Brunk told him they could not afford Clipse to have "a relapse" (8/21, 84) as a reference to Mr. Clipse's prescription for methadone – a well known heroin weaning medication. Even Brunk admitted he told Mr. Clipse to get "cleaned up." (8/20, 29).

In the Complaint, not allowing Mr. Clipse to work after hiring him was characterized as a termination. (CP 3, para. 2.5) Respondents' Answer alleged Mr. Clipse was never hired.

The difference is of no import. Either Mr. Clipse was hired but fired before he could work a shift, or not hired. The reason was permissible or discriminatory. Respondents admitted their reason

(ignoring their shifting reasons) was a physical condition.⁵ (8/21, 25)

The Jury found in favor of Mr. Clipse on the question of disability discrimination. (CP 472-473) At this juncture, nothing more need be said on that issue: the jury found Respondents either fired, or did not hire, Mr. Clipse because of a disability. Whether the jury internally decided it was real or perceived is of no import for Mr. Clipse's assignments of error. Respondents were caught in a Catch 22; either: (1) Mr. Clipse's taking Methadone (or belief he was subject to a "relapse" and need to get "cleaned up" from heroin) was a disabling condition as Respondents claimed in which case the duty to accommodate simply required them to allow Mr. Clipse to return to his doctor to change his prescription⁶ or (2) taking Methadone was not a disabling condition but Respondents perceived it was.

Respondents made a CR 50 motion for directed verdict at the close of Mr. Clipse's evidence to dismiss Mr. Clipse's RCW 49.52.050 (and remedy under 49.52.070) claim. The gist of the motion was Mr. Clipse did not work and earned no wage for RCW 49.52.050 to apply.

Mr. Clipse responded that: (1) RCW 49.52.050 applies to "back

⁵ Respondent's reasons varied wildly but at their core, they all revolved around their perception of Mr. Clipse's physical condition.

⁶ Mr. Clipse's physician, Dr. Pang, testified that if given the opportunity she could and would have given Mr. Clipse a different prescription. (Pang, 12:1-13)

wages” that would have been earned had the employer not violated a statutory obligation to allow the employee to earn them and (2) RCW 49.60 constitutes a statutory obligation in employers to not deny employees the right to earn a wage based on a discriminatory practice. (CP 429-436) Mr. Clipse conceded a finding of liability under RCW 49.52.050 was contingent on the jury finding Respondents violated RCW 49.60 in the first place. Id.

The Trial Court granted respondents’ motion, finding there must be wages earned before an employer may be held liable under RCW 49.52.050 and .070 adopting Respondents’ argument. (8/26, 15-18) The Trial Court also indicated there must be an actual agreement or concession by the employer regarding the wages owed, before failing to pay them establishes a violation. Id.

The jury verdict determined Respondents failed to pay Mr. Clipse \$79,300 in back wages because they discriminated against him in violation of RCW 49.60, et. seq. (CP 472) That is a finding Respondents deprived Mr. Clipse a wage, in violation of a statute.

The Court did not find there was no evidence of a “willful” violation of RCW 49.52.050. As discussed below, “willfulness” is a term of art and does not require malice aforethought to deny wages. If raised, it is the employer’s burden to prove.

Given Mr. Clipse's assignment of error and both the basis of Respondents' CR 50 motion and the Court's granting of it, it is arguably unnecessary to delve into the no less than 4 shifting pretexts Respondents provided to justify their conduct. However, to ensure completeness Mr. Clipse will digress to set them forth. It is well established offering shifting, differing reasons for the action is evidence none were the actual reason but instead a pretext for discrimination.

The **first pretext** was offered in response to Mr. Clipse's unemployment claim. On April 27, 2011 Respondents certified they did not hire Mr. Clipse only because he "failed his DOT exam." (Trial Ex. #8, 8/20 Supp, 8-13). Later, they admitted that was false; he passed. (8/20, 21-22, 27). They knew Mr. Clipse had a valid medical card when he was interviewed and hired and that their own doctor (McKendry) had given Mr. Clipse an additional 30-day card; the provision of the 30 day card was included in the fax from Respondents' Dr. McKendry (Trial Ex #6) Brunk admitted he read. (8/21, 22-25) A doctor may not issue even a 30 day Driver's Certificate unless the candidate passes all of the DOT requirements. 49 CFR 391.41. Mr, Brunk admitted he was aware of these DOT regulations. (8/21, 34) To know Mr. Clipse had even a 30-day card is to know he passed the DOT physical. Respondents knew this pretext was false when originally offered. 8/20, 13-14, 21-22.

The second pretext was also offered to Employment Security. Employment Security asked Mr. Clipse to respond to the assertion he failed the DOT physical. (8/20 Supp., 15) He said he passed and provided his card to prove it. Id. at 16. Employment Security asked Respondents to explain. Their response on May 9, was telling; after being flummoxed by the agency finding out Mr. Clipse passed (referencing the card, Mr. Brunk asked: “where did you get that?”), they continued the false statement that Mr. Clipse failed his DOT exam but added the new pretext that they required a 1-year card, saying “we cannot hire him without assurance that he can have a Certificate for a year.” Id. at 13, Trial Ex. #9.

Not a new pretext but important foundation for the next one and confirmation Respondents knew their original statements to Employment Security were false when made, Employment Security followed up again with Mr. Clipse. Mr. Clipse provided a copy of the 1-year card provided by Respondents’ own doctor (McKendry) once he returned with the paperwork she requested, id. at 15. It was that same paperwork Mr. Clipse showed Respondents on April 18 on his way to McKendry and that McKendry told Respondents in her fax on April 14 she was waiting on. When Employment Security confronted Respondents with the 1-year card, Respondents told Employment Security on May 12 that the 1-year card would have been sufficient and they would have let him work with it but

the position had since been filed. Id. at 15-17, Trial Ex. #10. Respondents thus implied to Employment Security they did not know Mr. Clipse had the 1-year card at the time; however, as demonstrated above, on April 19 Mr. Clipse showed Respondents the doctors' letters Brunk understood Clipse was taking to McKendry for a longer card (8/20, 24) telling Respondents he was on his way to McKendry's office that same day.

The **third pretext** was offered to the EEOC in response to Mr. Clipse's EEOC complaint. By then, Respondents knew they could not continue the story a 1-year Driver's Certificate was required (sufficient) after being caught by Employment Security with Mr. Clipse's 1-year card. Also, they apparently realized continuing to assert Mr. Clipse failed the DOT physical was too obviously false to continue asserting. Thus, as an entirely new pretext, on July 22, 2011 Respondents dropped the assertion that Mr. Clipse failed the physical and told EEOC the new pretext that CDS required a "two year card." (Trial Ex. #11) Also for the first time, Respondents asserted Mr. Clipse's prescription for Methadone was "strictly prohibited" by the DOT and that was why he was not allowed to work. Id., and 8/20, 36-37. Respondents' assertion to the EEOC about the DOT regulation relating to Methadone will be discussed below.

Every time their pretext was rebutted, Respondents shifted to a new story.

It appears depositions, motions, and trial briefing finally got the message through to Respondents. Given that, Respondents manufactured an entirely new pretext. As the **fourth pretext** at trial, Respondents' attorney argued Mr. Clipse was not hired because it was Respondents' intention to have even "higher" or stronger safety regulations than required by the DOT. Notably, Mr. Brunk never asserted that himself.⁷

2. FACTS RELATING TO THE TRIAL COURT STRIKING MR. CLIPSE'S POST VERDICT MOTION FOR FEES AND COSTS UNDER RCW 49.60

Following the verdict, Mr. Clipse presented a proposed Order of Judgment. (CP 474) Because of the time limitation of CR 54, the proposed Order included language that moving to prove up fees and costs under RCW 49.60 was "Reserved" for a later date. Id. That order was entered following the verdict on August 28 without objection by Respondents. (8/23, 12)

When considering the proposed Order of Judgment, the Trial Court entertained a colloquy when the motion might be heard. The Trial Court suggested not noting it to be heard for at least two weeks because of court

⁷ This was plainly only an attorney argument. Mr. Brunk never said it was his reasoning; it is contrary to all his certifications to State and Federal government and his testimony. Counsel offered the school manuals, testimony of employees about a no-tolerance drug policy, and tried to connect the disjointed dots herself.

scheduling. (8/23, 12) Dates as late as September 27 were discussed: The Court: “13th, don’t set it for the 13th. The 13th is going to be a crazy busy docket as well. So I would suggest that it be the 20th or 27th.” Id.

Mr. Clipse filed his motion for fees and costs on September 11, for one of the dates the Court told him she wanted it heard on. (CP 498-603, 475, 476-497)

Respondents moved to strike asserting the fee motion was late. (CP 604-607, 608-618) Mr. Clipse replied that explicitly “Reserving” fees and costs in the Judgment extended the time under CR 54 to file the motion. (CP 619-643, 644-695) In the alternative, Mr. Clipse moved the Trial Court to extend time under CR 6(b)(2) and the standard of “excusable neglect,” he articulated evidence and argument on it. Id.

Respondents articulated not a single aspect of prejudice to either them or the judicial process by an extension, nor did they allege or make any showing of bad faith by Mr. Clipse in the timing of his motion. (CP 696-706) They only argued that late is late, asserting that because the time to file a notice of appeal, and MAR de novo request, etc., cannot be extended due to “excusable neglect,” that the Trial Court was compelled to similarly deny Mr. Clipse’s motion to extend time. Id. Respondents argued Corey v. Pierce County, 154 Wn.App. 752 (2010) was directly on point and compelled granting their motion.

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