1914 MID-0 11 9:20

No. 45407-6-11

4 1

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RONALD CLIPSE

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

COMMERCIAL DRIVER SERVICES, INC. AND LEE BRUNK

Respondents/Cross-Appellants

OPENING BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS/CROSS-APPELLANTS AND RESPONSE TO CLIPSE'S OPENING BRIEF

Lori M. Bemis, WSBA #32921 McGavick Graves, P.S. Attorneys for Respondents/Cross-Appellants 1102 Broadway, Suite 500 Tacoma, WA 98402 Telephone (253) 627-1181 Facsimile (253) 627-2247

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

1. Denial of a Motion Pursuant to CR 50 is Reviewed De Novo.

At the conclusion of Clipse's case. CDS moved for judgment as a matter of law pursuant to CR 50. (CP 941-952). CDS argued that Clipse had not established that recovered drug addiction was a disability, that he was qualified for the position as a commercial truck driver, or that Clipse could perform the job. (CP 945-949). In addition, CDS argued that Clipse had failed to establish promissory estoppel.

Judgment as a matter of law is appropriate when, during a trial by jury, "a party has been fully heard with respect to an issue and there is no legally sufficient evidentiary bases for a reasonable jury to find or have found for that party with respect to that issue" CR 50(a)(1). On appeal, denial of a motion for judgment as a matter of law is reviewed de novo, utilizing the same standard as the trial court. <u>Fev v. State</u>, 174 Wn. App. 435, 454-55, 300 P.3d 435 (2013). A motion for judgment as a matter of law brought under CR 50, "must be granted 'when, viewing the evidence most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party.'" <u>Davis v. Microsoft Corp.</u>, 149 Wash. 2d 521, 531, 70 P.3d 126 (2003) (quoting <u>Sing v. John L.</u> <u>Scott</u>, Inc., 134 Wn.2d 24, 29, 948 P.2d 816 (1997)).

2. Striking of a Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Finding an Absence of Excusable Neglect is Reviewed for Abuse of Discretion.

The decision of the trial court to accept or decline untimely filing is vested in the sole discretion of the trial court and the decision of the trial court is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>Colorado Structures, Inc. v.</u> <u>Blue Mountain Plaza</u>. LLC, 159 Wash.App. 654, 660, 246 P.3d 835 (2011). A court abuses its discretion when it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. <u>Id</u>.

3. Clipse Cannot Resurrect on Appeal Claims Voluntarily Dismissed at Trial.

At trial, Clipse proceeded to the jury on his state claim under the WLAD and his claim for promissory estoppel. (CP 472-473). Clipse's claim under RCW 49.52.050 and 070 were dismissed over Clipse's objection on CDS's CR 50 motion. Clipse voluntarily dismissed his claims for wrongful termination in violation of public policy (which was not briefed by Clipse at all in his response to summary judgment), discrimination under the federal ADA, and equitable estoppel (versus promissory estoppel). (CP 25-50). Washington law holds that a party, having sought voluntary dismissal, has waived the jurisdiction of both the trial and appellate courts with respect to the merits of the claim. Cork Insulation Sales Co., Inc. v. Torgeson, 54 Wn. App. 702, 707, 775 P.2d 970 (1989). Consequently, CDS will not address the failure of the trial court to dismiss the later dismissed federal ADA claim and wrongful termination in violation of public policy claim argued at summary judgment. Although, as is evident from the record, CR 56 warranted dismissal of these claims at summary judgment.

4. Clipse Failed to Present Any Evidence Establishing that Recovered Drug Addiction Is a Disability.

In Washington, to articulate a prima facie case for disability discrimination, an employee must establish:

1) The employee had a sensory, mental, or physical abnormality that substantially limited his or her ability to perform the job;

.

- 2) The employee was qualified to perform the essential functions of the job with or without reasonable accommodation [...];
- 3) The employee gave the employer notice of the disability and its accompanying substantial limitations; and
- 4) Upon notice, the employer failed to reasonably accommodate the employee.

<u>Davis v. Microsoft Corp.</u>, 109 Wn. App. 884, 889-90, 37 P.3d 333 (2002) <u>aff'd</u>, 149 Wn.2d 521, 70 P.3d 126 (2003) (internal citations omitted) (cited with approval in <u>Fey v. State</u>, 174 Wn. App. 435, 300 P.3d 435 (2013)).

It is anticipated that Clipse will argue that it is immaterial whether recovered drug addiction qualifies as a disability because Brunk perceived Clipse as disabled and that the perception of disability is sufficient to establish the first element of a claim for disability: that the employee had a sensory, mental, or physical abnormality that substantially limited his or her ability to perform the job. (CP 425). This is not the law; RCW 49.60.040(7)(a) provides:

"Disability" means the presence of a sensory, mental, or physical impairment that:

(i) Is medically cognizable or diagnosable; or

(ii) Exists as a record or history; or

(iii) Is perceived to exist whether or not it exists in fact.

Pursuant to Washington law, the alleged disabling condition must still be shown to be an impairment of a sensory, mental, or physical state. RCW 49.60.040(7)(a). Although the employer in a "regarded as" case perceives a disability that does not exist, the condition the employer is alleged to perceive must still be shown to meet the definition of disability to entitle an employee to relief under the WLAD. RCW 49.60.040(7). In the case at hand. Clipse would be correct that he need not prove he suffers from a disability to proceed to a jury on a "regarded as" claim; however, he is incorrect that he is not required to show that the condition he is perceived to have meets the definition of disability. Clipse must show that the condition he was perceived to have, recovered drug addiction, is a disability because it is perceived that recovered drug addiction created a mental, sensory, or physical impairment. The fallacy of Clipse's reasoning is obvious. Under Clipse's analysis, a person who has no disability is afforded greater protection under the WLAD by way of a lesser burden of proof than an individual with an actual disability. Such a litigant would merely have to show that they are perceived to have some medical condition, whether or not the condition meets the definition of disability. RCW 49.60.040(7)(a). This is not the law. Id.

.

"[W]hether a person is handicapped is an issue of fact, depending upon expert medical documentation and state of mind" <u>Rhodes v.</u> URM Stores, Inc., 95 Wn. App. 794, 977 P.2d 651 (1999).⁴ In the instant case, no evidence was presented regarding *recovered* drug addiction as an impairment. Similarly, there was no testimony from Brunk regarding how he perceived recovered drug addiction would affect one's sensory, mental, or physical abilities. RCW 49.60.040(7)(a). Speculation and conclusion are insufficient to carry the burden of a plaintiff. Moreover, such testimony. in this case, could only have been offered by a physician. This is because Clipse averred that he was not an addict (and had never been one), as a result, he could not testify from personal knowledge as to how being a recovered drug addict impairs one's sensory, mental, or physical state. (RP August 22, 2013 pp. 59, 23-25, 60-61:1-5). At trial, Drs. Pang. and McKendry focused on Clipse's medication and medical record; neither opined as to whether recovered drug addiction was a disability or what aspects of one's physical state would be impacted as a recovered drug addict. (CP 218-343).

Contrastingly, in <u>Townsend v. Walla Walla Sch. Dist.</u>, 147 Wn. App. 620, 196 P.3d 748 (2008), the plaintiff presented evidence of having a hearing problem and presented evidence of her physical limitations and the impact on her. <u>Townsend</u>, 147 Wn. App. at 626. It is always the

⁴ Although/the definition of disability has changed since <u>Rhodes</u>, the case is still relevant insofar as it opines that the evidence presented of disability must be sufficient to satisfy that the condition upon which the claim rests is a disability.

burden of the plaintiff to offer evidence that the complained of condition amounts to a disability through testimony or evidence of the condition's effect on the plaintiff. <u>Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc.</u>, 152 Wn.2d 138, 145, 94 P.3d 930 (2004). A complete failure of proof on this element requires dismissal.

For example, in Brady v. Daily World, 105 Wn.2d 770, 718 P.2d 785 (1986), the Supreme Court noted that isolated incidents involving alcohol use were not sufficient to show that the employee had alcoholism or, "that [the employee] was discharged for that perceived condition." Brady, 105 Wn.2d at 789. It also declined to consider whether alcoholism was a disability, finding that freedom from intoxication was a bona fide occupational qualification. Id. This underscores the fact that the first inquiry, even in a perceived disability case, is whether the complained of condition meets the definition of disability, and that alcoholism's status as a disability was not a foregone conclusion. Id. Similar to Rhodes, a truck driver who was terminated for cocaine and marijuana use presented testimony from his physician regarding the nature of addiction abuse and the patient's history involving marijuana and cocaine use. Id. at 799-800. The <u>Rhodes</u> court held, relying in part upon the Supreme Court's refusal in <u>Brady</u> to hold that alcoholism was a disability as a matter of law, that

such testimony was insufficient to establish a disability. <u>Rhodes</u>, 95 Wn. App. at 799-800 (analyzing <u>Brady</u>, 105 Wn.2d at 777).

These cases show that a failure of proof as to the element of disability warrants dismissal. In the instant case, no evidence was offered by Clipse at trial establishing that recovered drug addiction (or drug addiction) was a disability. Clipse also failed to offer any testimony regarding how, if at all, his usage of Methadone affected him. Brunk testified that at the time he was considering Clipse for a position at CDS, he was unaware that Methadone is given to some individuals who used heroin. (RP August 20, 2103 pp. 29:25, 30:1-9). Magnifying the lack of evidence presented on the issue of disability by Clipse, there is no testimony from Brunk to the effect that he believed that a present or former drug addict necessarily suffered from sensory, mental, or physical impairments. However, notably an employee suffering from active drug addiction is frequently not qualified for employment in a position where operating machinery is required. There is a complete dearth of evidence as to the element of disability in this claim at trial. Accordingly, Clipse failed to present substantial evidence establishing that he was regarded as disabled. CDS's motion for judgment as a matter of law should have been granted. CR 50.

5. Clipse Failed to Provide Substantial Evidence that He was a *Qualified Candidate for a Position at CDS.*

To prevail on a claim under the WLAD, in addition to showing disability or that one was perceived as disabled, one must show that he is able to perform the essential functions of the job in question, with or without reasonable accommodation. <u>Davis</u>, 109 Wn. App. at 889-90. Washington law affords considerable deference to an employer's description of the essential functions of a job. <u>Fey</u>. 174 Wn. App. at 452; <u>Snyder v. Med. Serv. Corp. of E. Wash.</u>, 98 Wn. App. 315, 328, 988 P.2d 1023 (1999) <u>aff'd sub nom.</u> 145 Wn.2d 233, 35 P.3d 1158 (2001). Clipse was not qualified for the job due to his Methadone use and his possession of only a 30-day card. A person is not permitted to drive a commercial motor vehicle in Washington State unless they hold a CDL. Ch. 46.25 RCW. The position at CDS required Clipse to drive a commercial vehicle and hold a CDL to do so. (RP August 22, 2013 pp. 5:17-25, 6:1-5); 49 C.F.R. § 391.11(a).

An employer of commercial drivers is tasked with ensuring candidates meet the necessary commercial driver requirements. RCW 46.25.040; 49 C.F.R. § 391.11(a). An employer is prohibited from employing a commercial driver who is disqualified from driving a commercial motor vehicle. RCW 46.25.040(a). An employer of

commercial drivers is required to comply with both federal and state requirements. 49 C.F.R. § 391.11(a). Federal law provides, "[a] person shall not drive a commercial motor vehicle unless he/she is qualified to drive a commercial motor vehicle." 49 C.F.R. § 391.11(a). This posture of state and federal law dictates certain requirements that an employer of commercial drivers must adhere to. To the extent state law may be inconsistent with federal regulations, state law is specifically preempted. 49 C.F.R. § 382.109 and 49 C.F.R. § 382.103(a).

The regulations go on to require that a driver be physically qualified in accord with subpart E. 49 C.F.R. § 391.11(b)(4). Subpart E indicates that a person is physically qualified to drive a motor vehicle if he/she, "[d]ocs <u>not</u> use any drug or substance identified in 21 C.F.R. 1308 Schedule I, an amphetamine, a narcotic, or other habit-forming drug." 49 C.F.R. § 391.41(12)(i) (emphasis added). Schedule I specifically identifies opiates as an excluded drug or substance. 21 C.F.R. § 1308.11 Schedule I. Methadone is a narcotic, an opiate, and habit forming and is, therefore, prohibited by 49 C.F.R. § 391.41(12)(i). Consequently, a driver who utilizes Methadone and is qualified pursuant to a physician's exception, such as the one Dr. McKendry executed in this case, employers are permitted to enforce their own, stricter employment guidelines. (RP August 29, 2013 pp. 60:9-25, 61:1-7).

In addition to the plain language of 49 C.F.R. § 391.41, the federal government offers "interpretation" guidelines to assist employers in complying with the FMCSA. The federal government's guidance for employers seeking to comply with 49 C.F.R. § 391.41 is as follows:

Question 4: Is a driver who is taking prescription Methadone qualified to drive a CMV [Commercial Motor Vehicle] in interstate commerce?

Guidance: Methadone is a habit-forming narcotic which can produce drug dependence and is not an allowable drug for operators of CMVs.

49 C.F.R. § 391.41 U.S. Dept. of Transportation Guidelines (www.fmcsa.dot.gov; Trial Ex. 14A). Brunk's interpretation of these regulations was that Methadone was a prohibited substance pursuant to 49 C.F.R. § 391.41 because it is a narcotic, an opiate, and habit forming. (RP August 20, 2013 pp. 25:7-11, 29:6-11; August 21, 2013 pp. 24-26). CDS regarded strict compliance with these regulations to be an essential function of the job. <u>Id</u>. Dr. McKendry further testified that the FMCSA's guidelines for physicians recommend not approving a truck driver using Methadone, even with a doctor's note. (CP 277-278; Trial Ex. 14A). CDS's job policies follow the recommendations for an employer *even as described by a DOT physician*. (Trial Exs. 12, 14A).

Here, Clipse argued that CDS erroneously interpreted the federal regulations and that Methadone use was permitted where approved by a doctor. This argument fails to address Washington's long standing history of permitting employers to establish and enforce policies prohibiting drug use in the work place or imposing stricter standards than the law. Consequently even if true, the WLAD cannot be interpreted to *require* CDS to employ an individual to drive a commercial truck who is taking Methadone daily or face charges of discrimination. Put differently, must an employer hire every employee who completes his/her DOT physical even if they perceive the employee to represent a safety hazard due to use of a narcotic? Even if CDS interpreted the C.F.R.s more strictly, CDS was entitled to do so. Further, how can CDS's interpretation be legally actionable as disability discrimination where it is reflected by Dr. McKendry and the FMCSA's own guidelines? (CP 277-278).

Washington courts have repeatedly found, as a matter of law, that employer's drug policies are reasonable and enforceable safety precautions in the workplace. <u>Rhodes</u>, 95 Wn. App. at 801; <u>Hines v. Todd</u> <u>Pac. Shipyards Corp.</u>, 127 Wn. App. 356, 371, 112 P.3d 522 (2005); <u>Brady</u>, 105 Wn.2d at 789.

Recently in <u>Fey</u>, Division III held that a case of disability discrimination should have been dismissed pursuant to CR 50. <u>Fey</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 459-60. Division III held, "[t]he jury's function does not extend to second-guessing . . . management's judgment about the makeup

of its fleet." <u>Fey</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 447. The <u>Fey</u> court went on to hold, "[w]here there is no material dispute as to the evidence, the court may determine as a matter of law that a function claimed to be essential by the employer is in fact essential." <u>Id.</u> Here, as in <u>Fey</u>, CDS established that possession of a commercial driver's license, and compliance with the regulations establishing eligible holders of a commercial driver's license were essential functions of the job. <u>Fey</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 451.

.

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